
The monthly newsletter is a service to the community and our members. We welcome requests to
research specific topics from the public and accept articles on local history. Please note that the Society
reserves the right to accept or decline any article or material at its discretion. The Society is not
responsible for the loss of or damage to any submitted material so please keep a copy for your records.
Please include a note authorizing Anderson Historical Society to publish the material. We need two
things from all members or those interested in local history: please be sure the Society has an updated
email address and please spread the word to friends and neighbors about the Newsletter. Please contact
us at: www.andersonhistorical.com.
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The Burbank brothers consisted of Silas E. Burbank and Joseph P. Burbank. Both were the sons of
Amos Burbank 1803-1878 and Nancy Moore 1808-1878 who had moved the family from New Hampshire
to Nevada after the Civil War. The move to Nevada included Amos’ daughter Susan and her husband N.B.
Isbell and Amos’ three sons, Silas, Joseph, and Charles. Susan’s husband died in Nevada in 1873, as did
Charles in 1876, and Amos and Nancy died in 1878. In 1880 Silas who was born in Maine in 1842 was
farming in Esmeralda County and living with his sister, while Joseph Parker who was born in 1844 in New
Hampshire was working at Gold Hill in Storey County as a teamster.

Joseph Parker Burbank joined Company I, 8th New Hampshire Infantry in December 1861 and
was sent with his regiment to the New Orleans Campaign. Joseph served in the Battle of Georgia Landing
in October 1862 then operations against Port Hudson and the Teche Campaign until he was discharged in



March 1863 for disability. Joseph married Louisa Catherine Kline (1854-1937) in 1874 at Silver City (he
was noted as a resident of Virginia City). On the 1880 U. S. Census Joseph was listed as a teamster at
Gold Hill (near Virginia City) in Storey County, Nevada. Louisa and Joseph had the first two of their three
known children in Nevada: Arthur born about 1878 and Florence born about 1880 (Herbert would follow
about 1892 in California). In 1890 Joseph and Silas moved to Anderson and opened the Anderson Cash
Store. In 1891 Silas married Anna B. Wheeler and appears to have distanced himself from the store. In
1900 Silas received a homestead patent for 160 acres in Section 14, Township 33 North Range 2 East,
MDM. In 1904 Joseph was found on billheads by himself selling “general merchandise, paints, oils,
varnishes, dry goods, notions, and fancy goods.” By 1910 Joseph was listed as a retail merchant,
groceries. In 1898 Joseph’s son Arthur Charles registered to vote as a clerk in the store.

Joseph died in 1911 (Louisa survived until 1937) and in 1914 Silas is listed as retired and living in
San Diego where he died in 1921 (Anna was believed to have died in 1909). The store appears to have
passed to Arthur Chester Burbank prior to Joseph’s death as Arthur was listed as a retail merchant of a
general store in the 1910 U. S. Census. On the 1917 draft registration Arthur and his brother Herbert
Harold were both listed as a merchant at J. P. Burbank & Company so the store retained its name after
Joseph’s death. In 1917 the store was not only selling groceries and dry good but sporting goods and was
an agent for Studebaker cars. Sometime between 1920 and 1930 the store appears to have closed as in
the 1930 census Herbert was listed as an insurance agent in Alameda County and Arthur was a store
manager in Anderson. Arthur died in Shasta County in 1946 while Herbert survived until 1977.

Front Street in Anderson. On the left is a drug store and
on the right the Oriental Hotel and the Burbank Brother’s
store. Note the billhead cites the address as Center
Street. Courtesy of Shasta Historical Society.

Shasta Lumber Company, Bella Vista



In 1884 the Morris brothers began construction of a five mile long flume to move lumber from their mill
to a transfer point where wagons could take it to market. The operation was believed to have been sold
to Holbrook & Phillips who then sold to Joseph Enright of Chico. Enright purchased thousands of acres of
timber land on Hatchet Mountain as well as the Morris brothers mill and water rights to 2,500 miner’s
inches of water. The five mile flume Enright purchased in 1886 was quickly extended until the flume ran
thirty-two miles to a planning mill, drying shed, and box factory he erected where Little Cow Creek and
Dry Creek join to become Cow Creek. The small town that grew up around the mill became Bella Vista.

The flume dropped from 4,200 feet to 525 ft. at Bella Vista. The bottleneck in the operation was the
transfer of lumber ten miles to connect with the railroad. The land being relative flat curtailed flume
operation so at first wagons were employed, but these were subject to weather conditions and often
stopped for heavy rain or snow. About 1891 Enright solved most of the transportation problem by
beginning a railroad from Bella Vista to Anderson (the Anderson and Bella Vista Railroad). The one
obstacle that remained was that a ferry was needed to cross the Sacramento River to reach the spur line
on west bank. For the first few years the operation was profitable but by 1897 Joseph E. Terry purchased
the company from the San Jose Safety Deposit Bank who appeared to be Enright’s mortgage holder. The
mill, timber holdings, water rights, flume, and railroad supposedly sold for $87,000 (over three million
dollars today).

The envelope was mailed in 1893 in San Francisco to S. Roycroft in Anderson. Stephen Roycroft
1832-1908 was operating the Marshall House, a hotel in Anderson at the time of the letter.

Follow-up on William H. Howard

In the article on William H. Howard in the March Newsletter there was some speculation
concerning his association with the Methodist Episcopal Church, South in Ono. A reader
responded that the Richland Baptist Church in Eagle Creek (now Ono) began in November 1860



under Rev. F. Spencer as part of a circuit system. The name was changed to Eagle Creek Baptist
Church in 1870. In 1882 a permanent wooden structure was built in Ono by subscription. Due to
declining membership services were transferred to Kimball Plains. In 1900 the wooden structure
was burned and what remained was used to build a ME parsonage . The ME Church, South
congregation had a new church erected of poured concrete. In 1911 due to declining
membership the ME Church reverted to a circuit pastor. The church was used until 1932 when it
was destroyed by fire. The answer to the speculation is no: the Ono ME Church was erected
after Rev. Howard left Shasta County.

Additional Shasta County Mugshots

San Quentin inmate Harry Williams #15250 convicted of assault to rape and given a twelve-year
sentence. Harry was received at San Quentin in February 1893 and listed as a cook age 65
(about 1828) born in Virginia. Harry died in San Quentin in 1899.



San Quentin inmate Charles Douty #16322 convicted of robbery and given a two-year sentence.
Charles was received in April 1895 and listed as a farmer aged 32 (1863) born in Missouri.
Charles was discharged in December 1896.

San Quentin inmate L. A. Combs #16254 was convicted of “felony” and given an
eighteen-month sentence. Combs was received in February 1895 and listed as a veterinary
surgeon. Combs was aged 36 (1859) and born in California. Combs was restored in May 1896.

Note, there is a strange entry on Mr. Combs’ paperwork. A felony is any crime that carries a
maximum sentence of more than one year in custody. Felonies are usually listed by the charge:



murder, rape, aggravated assault, etc. L. A. Combs’ records simply states “felony” rather than a
specific charge. No other cases were found simply using felony and no separate crime was
found simply titled felony. If anyone has an explanation, we would love to know.

Trade Cards

Filed in the library collection were a number of trade cards that were utilized from about
the time of the Civil War until the turn of the century by proprietary drug companies and
businessmen of all types to promote their stores and products. In areas with limited access to
newspapers trade cards were the primary means of advertising. Some businessmen even
purchased Confederate States of America notes after the Civil War and printed advertisements
on the blank back to generate more interest. These four trade cards for Hall’s Hair Renewer,
Scovill’s Sarsaparilla or Blood and Liver Syrup, Barry’s Tricopherous, and Buckingham’s Dye for
the Whiskers were typical of the period before the 1906 Food and Drug Act and false advertising
acts that followed.

Figure 1 and 2 are for Hall’s Vegetable Sicilian Hair Renewer. Dr. Reuben P. Hall (R.P. Hall
& Company of Nashua, New Hampshire) and Philander Ring formed a business relationship
before the Civil War whereby Ring marketed Hall’s products. In 1865 Demas Barnes & Company
became the wholesaler for the product. In the mid-1870s J.C. Ayers & Company bought the
factory and ran it as a subsidiary until the late 1920s when the product was dropped. Figure 3 is
a newspaper advertisement for Hall’s Vegetable Sicilian Hair Renewer.

Buckingham’s Dye for the Whiskers was also a product of the R. P. Hall & Company and
in Figure 2 and 6 the advertisement is combined with the hair renewer. In figure 4 and 5 the
trade card folds down to show the before and after use results. Most of text may have passed
muster when the new laws were enacted after 1906, except for figure 6 where there probably
was no clinical proof that Vegetable Sicilian Hair Renewer “prevented baldness.”

Figures 7, 8, and 9 demonstrate how outrageous some of the medical claims were.
Scovill’s Sarsaparilla or Blood & Liver Syrup was also sold as Scovill’s Sarsparilla & Stillingis, or
Scovill’s Syrup or Blood & Liver Syrup. Sarsaparilla is the root commonly used to make root beer
and stillingia or Queen’s root is another southern herb that is still utilized in homeopathic
medicine. Here they claim to CURE scrofula (cervical tuberculosis), cancer, gout, syphilis, and
malaria among other things. Many of the unregulated products contained high doses of sugar,
high alcohol content, or included opium, cannabis, cocaine, or mercury and none with the need
of a doctor’s prescription. The products often made the user feel better on a temporary basis
and many in the long run were lethal.

Amon L. Scovill formed a partnership with Henry E. Morrill in 1849 to market Dr. Roger’s
Compound Syrup of Liverwort, Tar and Canchalague (a Peruvian herb). By the 1850s the
partnership marketed Dr. William Hall’s Balsam for the lungs, Scovill’s Compound Extract of



Sarsaparilla and Stillingia, and Circassian Hair Restorative out of offices in Cincinnati. In 1872 the
company was taken over by John Henry. Figures 7, 8, and 9 date from the time of John F. Henry
& Company. John Henry was a son of J. M. Henry who manufactured proprietary medicines in
Vermont in the 1850’s. John Henry moved to New York in 1865 and associated with Demas
Barnes until the latter ran for Congress in 1868. After John Henry took over the A. L. Scovill &
Company he marketed Henry’s Carbolic Salve, Baker’s Pain Panacea, Mott’s Liver Pills, and
Scovill’s Blood and Liver Syrup until the early 1900s.

Figures 10 and 11 are for Barry’s Tricoperous which was first marketed in the late 1840s
by “Professor” Alexander C. Barry, a wig maker in New York. In 1871 Barry sold his company to
Thomas Barclay who continued to continued to sell the product until 1906. The ingredients
were typical for the period: 97% alcohol, 1.5 % castor oil, and 1% tincture of Spanish fly, an
irritant made from blister beetles, added to “stimulate the scalp.”

Internal Revenue
stamps such as this
one for McMunn’s
Elixir of Opium

provided some purchasers with a sense of legitimacy but nothing could be farther from the
truth. The stamps only signified that the product was patented. Efficacy was not checked. The
stamps commonly seen on products sold between 1862 and 1883 were not to protect the
consumer. The proprietary tax stamps started with the Tax Law of 1862 and were started as a
means of helping to pay for the Civil War. After the temporary income tax law of the Civil War
ended the use of the stamps continued for a little less than two decades. Manufacturers got a
discount for producing their own stamps and it was in a sense free advertising. The stamps had
to be affixed to each box, bottle, or container so that in opening the stamp shall effectively be
destroyed. The law applied not only to patent “medicines” but also matches, perfumes, playing
cards, and for a short period canned fruit.











The articles for the month of April 2023 are: 1) Andrew J. Oswald and the Esperanza Gold Mining &
Development Company, 2) Chester W. Bryant, 3) Leonora Hovey, 4) Chicago on the South Fork, 5)
Abstract of Title: The Dilullo Property in East Anderson.

Andrew J. Oswald and the Esperanza Gold Mining & Development
Company

The Esperanza Gold Mining and Development Company was incorporated under the laws of
Arizona in October 1908 with the corporate offices at San Jose in Santa Clara County. The president of
the company A. J. Oswald issued the stock in April 1909. Many people see Capital Stock $500,000 and
translate that into funds available but capital stock simply means all the common and preferred stock a
corporation is legally allowed to issue. Raising sufficient funds to pay for the expense of hard-rock mining



was a problem for many mining corporations. When the location of the mine was researched the
isolated location alone would have caused problems. Although the mine was located in the Harrison
Gulch Mining District in was south of Knob about two thirds of a mile north of Dead Horse Ridge on the
divide between the Middle Fork of Cottonwood Creek and Baker Flat Creek on the border of Shasta and
Trinity County. Modern mine data lists the location of the gold mine in Section 29 in Township 29 North
Range 10 West but this may be wrong as Andrew James Oswald purchased 160 acres in September 1899
in Sections 26 and 27 of Township 30 North Range 10 West. The mine was described as being a vein
deposit with ore body outcrops and four veins (three parallel) and the workings were described as a 215
foot deep shaft with access through three cross cut adits (entrances). The workings were described as
extending through a fault.

A 1909 entry in the Engineering and Mining Journal cites “a new hoist plant, air drills, etc. have
been provided. The work of developing the property has commenced.” A 1914 entry in Mines and
Mineral Resources cites the Esperanza Mine as being “160 acres 1 ½ miles east of Harrison Gulch in the
Harrison Gulch Mining District. A shaft has been sunk on the Lucky George Claim to a depth of 214 feet
with three crosscuts run through a fault. Some ore on the surface. A 12-horsepower steam hoist was
used and four men employed.” After 1920 all descriptions show the mine as being idle.

Andrew James Oswald’s story begins with his father James B. Oswald who was born in Scotland
in 1813. It is believed that James was recruited for New South Wales, Australia in 1841 with the trade of
joiner and carpenter (this may account for his son James’ entering father’s birthplace as Australia in
1910). In about 1850 Andrew was living in Chile and married a Chilean woman. It is only speculation if he
was mining silver, coal, or salpeter at the time but he appears to have been recruited for the New
Almaden Mine in Santa Clara County. In Chile the new couple had a son born in May 1851 that was also
named James Benjamin. After arriving in California James had a second son Andrew James Oswald.
Nothing was found concerning the name or disposition of James’ wife.

The Santa Clara Mine as it was first known started producing quicksilver in 1845 and was the
holding of five individuals. The principal holder Captain Castillero returned to Mexico to recruit capital
and as Mexico prepared for war, he was called upon to serve. Captain Castillero never returned to
California and in 1846 sold his portion of the mine to the English industrial firm of Barron, Forbes
Company who operated a cotton mill at Tepic. Barron soon acquired control of the mine by buying out
the other principals. In 1847 the mine was renamed New Almaden after the quicksilver mine in Spain.
The mine just twelve miles south of San Jose was the sole quicksilver producer in the United States at
the beginning of the Gold Rush and by 1851 the mine employed 200 miners, primarily Mexicans, and had
13 furnaces. The company recruited Mexican and Chilean workers that quickly numbered 1,500. One of
the mine directors for Barron, Forbes included Henry Halleck who from 1862 to 1864 was the General in
Chief of the Union forces. In 1864 the mine was taken over by the Quicksilver Mining Company and the
labor force continued to be mostly Cornish and Mexican Immigrants. Other than sporadic attempts at
small scale mining the mine has been closed since 1912. Nothing was found concerning James’
employment but it is known that both his sons joined the labor force as they became of age.

The first-born son James Benjamin Oswald born in Chile in 1851 was not relative to the stock
certificate but had an interesting note in history. James served in the U.S. Navy at about age 13. During
the Civil War ships were allowed to have boys under 18 years of age at the ratio of one boy for every
two guns the ship carried. (i.e. a 44 gun frigate could have up to 22 boys in its crew.) Article 464 of
Naval Regulations published in 1833 stated, "A recruiting officer shall enter no boy under thirteen



years of age; nor any person under twenty-one years of age, without the consent of their parent or
guardian". James Benjamin Oswald was born in 1851 and it appears that about 1864 he enlisted as
a 2nd Class Boy on the USS Saranac. The Saranac was a sloop-of-war meaning it carried from 10 to
18 guns (or conversely 5 to 9 boys). When James was in service the sidewheel-propelled ship had
been recommissioned in 1857 and was serving in the Pacific. During the Civil War the USS Saranac
protected commerce along the coast of California and at the end of the war searched for the
Confederate cruiser Shenandoah until that ship learned of the Confederate surrender. The USS
Saranac was decommissioned in January 1869 and James may have remained in service until that
time as his military headstone lists him as “seaman.”

USS Saranac

James Benjamin Oswald worked in the New Almaden Mine after his release from the

Navy where he met future wife Aurelia Sambrano (Osario) whose family was also working at the
mine. James and Aurelia were married on Christmas Day 1880. The family was believed to have
had six children. James died in San Jose in 1900 and Aurelia survived until 1938.

Andrew James Oswald was born in 1853 possibly in San Francisco while his parents were
on the way to San Jose. When Andrew was old enough he worked at the New Almaden Mine
with his father and brother. In 1882 Andrew married Maria de Jesus “Mary” Maurino (often
listed as Jesus in early records). Mary’s father was Dr. J. Margurnio a surgeon serving with the
Mexican Army during the Mexican War. After one battle Mary’s father was told of a wounded
American officer and crossed the battle line to offer treatment. The act so incensed the enlisted
troops that they shot at him upon his return and attacked his home. Luckily, an Indian servant
hid the doctor’s wife and small child in a well, where they hid until the following day. The family
escaped and fled for California settling first in Monterey and after six years in San Jose. In 1863
Mary first married Luis Antonio Bernal who was born nearby on Rancho Santa Teresa. Luis’
father, Jose Joaquin Bernal, was a soldier in the De Anza expedition of 1776. In 1805 Jose was
assigned to San Jose and retired there in 1826. In 1834 Jose received a 9,647 acres grant from
the Mexican governor. Mary and Luis had four children: Alfred (born 1860 so marriage date may



be wrong), Edward 1866-1901, Hilaria 1869-1939, and Rose Antonia 1875-1948. Luis died of
pneumonia in 1878.

At the time Andrew married Mary in 1882 he was registered to vote in Oak Grove (now
part of San Jose) as a farmer. In 1890 Andrew was registered to vote in San Jose as a painter.
Between 1890 and 1919 there were 18 entries for Andrew in the San Jose City Directory: the
entries chronicle the up and down life of many mine developers: 1890-91 capitalist, 1892
painter, 1893 mining Siskiyou County, 1894 & 1896 painter, 1899 & 1900 miner, 1908 & 1910
miner, 1911-1913 mining expert, 1915-1918 miner, 1919 laborer. Andrew appears to have kept
San Jose as his base, but he did live elsewhere. In 1898 Andrew registered as a miner in Knob in
Shasta County and in 1899 purchased 160 acres to develop. In the 1900 U.S. Census Andrew
was listed at Harrison Gulch along with Mary and their only child James Blasé born in February
of 1888 in San Jose. On the 1910 U.S. Census Andrew and Mary were living Santa Clara with
James B. and Andrew’s step daughters Hilaria “Ella” and Rosa. In 1910 Andrew registered twice,
the second time at the Lorenz Hotel in Redding where he was listed as a mine owner. From the
history of the mine and the 1919 entry in the San Jose Directory it appears the capital died up
before the time of Andrew’s death in 1919. Mary survived until 1926 dying in San Jose.

Chester W. Bryant

Although we try to answer research questions sometimes the result leaves as many

questions as answers. The request was straight forward: information on Bryant’s Dispensary
that was located in the Masonic Temple in Redding. The back of the card had no information
other than it was printed by the Souvenir Publishing Company of San Francisco and Los Angeles.
No company history was found but from other post cards available the company was very
active from 1900 to the 1920s. The clue to the date is the arc light in the upper right corner: it is



identical to those installed by the Northern California Power Company before the city formed its
own lighting system in 1916. Between the style of clothing and the arc light an estimated date
would be around 1910. Both the 1900 and 1910 U.S. Census index only had one family named
Bryant in Redding. In both cases it was Chester C. Bryant, a physician born in Maine in 1856 and
his wife Elizabeth C. Bryant born in Tennessee in 1865. In 1900 Chester and Elizabeth were listed
with a son Chester Campbell Bryant born about 1888 in Tennessee.

According to licensing information, Dr. Bryant graduated from the Hospital College of
Medicine which was part of Central University of Kentucky graduating in 1888. The medical
school was associated with the Presbyterian Church and offered a three-year medical program.
The school was in existence from 1874-1901. Dr. Bryant was listed as obtaining a California
Physicians license in Redding in 1891.

Chester was believed to be the son of Silas C. Bryant 1826-1910 and Mary K. Blood
1823-1900. Silas was a farmer in Union, Knox County, Maine. Nothing was found of Chester’s
early life other than a voter registration at Tip Top, Territory of Arizona in 1880. Tip Top is now a
ghost town that had a short boom with the discovery of silver in 1875. The town had six
saloons, two restaurants, a brewery, three stores and a population of 1,200 at its peak. The
boom ended in 1884 and by 1895 the post office finally closed its doors. Chester was next found
in a marriage notice in Nashville, Tennessee in 1887 and graduating medical school in 1888.

What is perplexing is that in 1887, 1888, 1891, 1892, 1893, and 1901 Chester was on
steamships for about a month sailing between Puerto Cortez, Honduras, Livingston, Guatemala,
Belize (City), Belize, and New Orleans. In every case Chester is listed as a passenger with a cabin
(not crew) and in every case he is listed as a DENTIST. In 1892 his intended destination is Boston
and New Orleans in 1893. It appeared the records might belong to a different Chester W. Bryant
but in 1901 Elizabeth and Chester C. were accompanying him and his occupation was again
dentist. The question arises were these trips related to the Central American Presbyterian
missions that were becoming active and was his part of the mission dental services? In 1905
there is a physician named Chester W, Bryant in the El Centro (Imperial County) directory and in
1909 in the Los Angeles directory. From the licensing board Chester registered in Redding in
July 1891. In 1900 Chester was listed as a physician in Millville and 1910 as a physician in
Redding. When his son Chester C. Bryant registered for the draft in 1918, he gave his point of
contact as Chester W. Bryant in LaMoine. Chester’s wife Elizabeth died in Shasta County in
December 1919, but no cemetery location was found in the Cemetery Index. By 1910 Chester C.
Bryant had already started a lifelong employment with railroads and was working as a Southern
Pacific conductor at Weed and Dunsmuir.

The only firsthand account found on Dr. Bryant was in the 1974 Covered Wagon
concerning the treatment of a broken arm on Russel Estep sometime after 1914. “When we
arrived at Dr. Bryant’s office on Market Street he had been drinking. Both he and his office
smelled of bourbon whiskey. He set my arm and then put on a plaster cast. When the cast was



removed about a month later, my arm was shaped like a mild letter C. Now people wonder why
I don’t like bourbon.”

The last chapter of Chester W. Bryant’s story is from a consulate report in October 1922
concerning Americans that die overseas. The report states that Chester W. Bryant died in the
city of Tempic in the State of Nayarit at 8 A.M. on September 19th, 1922. The place of death was
the Hotel Bola de Oro and the cause of death was listed as a suicide. A vial of strychnine was
found in the hotel room. The city officials buried Chester and a note cited the body could be
disinterred after five years. Chester’s effects were seized by the hotel as there was an admitted
indebtedness of 312 pesos (Mexico in 1922 issued peso coins that contained .72 ounce of silver
verses the US silver dollar at about .77). Chester’s effects were sold to cover the debt and his
billfold, and some papers were forwarded to the consulate. The report stated, “no wife left,”
and official notice was sent to Chester Campbell Bryant (son) at Dunsmuir, California.

Many early physicians were associated with dispensaries but nothing in the records
connects Dr. Chester W. Bryant with the dispensary in the Masonic Temple in Redding. There is
an older definition: a clinic provided by public or charitable funds. So, it leaves the question, is
the dispensary on the post card an early form of walk-in clinic similar to what some would now
call “doc in a box?” If anyone has any corrections or additions, please forward them so we can
better answer the research question.

Leonora Hovey

Susie Nun a Pun Wik was believed to be a Wintu living in Shasta County at the time of

the Gold Rush and had a daughter Mary Jane Hovey in 1858. In the 1880 U.S. Census Mary Jane
Hovey is listed in the southwest end of Township 3 and is about 16 years old with a daughter
Lenora 7/12 (1879). Both Mary and Lenora were listed as Indian ( ½ and ¼ respectively) and
living with their uncle John Baker Hovey born about 1824 in New York. The question was who
was Lenora’s materinal grandfather and where was he in 1880? Working backwards in 1870
John Hovey was a miner served by Stillwater Post Office with a brother Richard R. (Rowell
Richard 1817-1889). In the 1860 U. S. Census Richard R., John B. and Captain Clark Hovey were
listed at Shasta. In 1852 John Baker Hovey, Samuel Hovey, and Captain Clark Hovey were all in
Sierra County mining. In 1850 Richard R., John H. (B), Samuel W., and Captain C. Hovey were all
on the Middle Fork of the American River in El Dorado County mining. All four brothers were the
son of Captain Richard C. Hovey born in 1792 in New Hampshire (died 1871 Illinois) and Abigail
Kimball born in 1792 in New Hampshire (died 1876 Illinois). The family had moved to New York,
then on to Ohio, then Illinois before the Gold Rush. The four brothers came to California
together and with a little further digging Susie Nun a Pun Wik had a relationship with Captain
Clark Hovey and the reason for his absence in 1880 was that he was murder at Churntown on
April 20, 1867. Sheriff William Hopping offered a $300 reward for the capture of the accused
murderer John Smith. Captain Clark Hovey had a daughter born in June 1859 at Churntown.
Nothing was found about what became of Susie but Mary Jane was living with her uncle John B.
Hovey in 1880 with her own daughter Lenora Hovey age seven months. John B. Hovey was



believed to have died at Kennett in 1897 and there was a note that John B. Hovey may have
married in 1849 while in Boone County, Illinois.



1880 has Mary Jane Hovey and her daughter Lenora born in Churntown living with John
Baker Hovey. The U.S. Census was held in June 1880 which would indicate Lenora was born
around October-November 1879. After the census Mary Jane Hovey, then age 15 or 16, married
Samuel Main (Maine) Williams age 52. In the early records Lenora is listed as Hovey indicating
there was no blood relationship to Samuel but later she uses the name Williams so it is an
unanswered question if Samuel was the father of Lenora or simply the step-father. Another
question relates to the relationship of Samuel to the Hovey family as both were in Boone
County, Illinois prior to joining the Gold Rush.

Samuel M. Williams was born in Jefferson County, New York in 1828. Samuel was the
son of Aaron Williams 1802-1846 and Helen Mayer 1805-1832. About 1844 Samuel moved to
Boone County, Illinois with his family. In the 1850 U.S. Census Samuel was working as a
blacksmith in Illinois and by family history had previously worked as a sailor on the Great Lakes
and worked for a gunsmith. Samuel did not come to California with the Hovey brothers.

There is a note that a Samuel M. Williams enlisted at Seneca, New York in April 1847 in
Company B, 4th Infantry Regiment. His age is given as 19 and his occupation as cooper. The next
note in the record was “in hospital at Puebla,” Mexico during General Scott’s push from Vera
Cruz to Mexico City. In 1848 the reginent returned to New York. There is no definate connection
but it is interesting to consider.

Samuel’s obituary cites he came to Shasta in 1850 and was one of the first settlers in the
town of Shasta, established the first sawmill at Shingletown, and was a partner with M.E.
Arrighini for twenty years. (Marco E. Arrighini was born in 1856 and immigrated in 1878 and
was a long term resident of Kennett and part owner of the Balma Hotel.) By records Samuel



probably arrived in California around 1852 and was in Shasta County by 1860. Samuel was not
found in the 1870 or 1880 U.S. Census but did register to vote in 1867 at Tower House as a
miner. The implication is that he was living an isolated life rather than being absent from Shasta
County as his half-brother Perry Rufus Williams (born in 1840 in New York) came to Shasta
County by 1870 and his brother William Wallace Williams (born 1830 in New York) was living at
Millville in 1870.

Perry Rufus Williams appears to have come west about the time of the Civil War and was
mining at Aurora, Nevada which is three miles from the California border. In 1864 Perry enlisted
in Company E, 1st Batallion Nevada Cavalry. Company E was stationed at Camp Nye near Carson
City and participated in the Expedition to Pyramid and Mud Lake during the Snake War. Perry
possibly participated in the Battle of Mud Lake in March 1865. After his discharge at Fort
Churchill Perry was found in Sacramento working as a laborer in 1867. In the 1870 U.S. Census
Perry was a farm laborer at Millville. Perry died at Kennett in 1906.

William Wallace Williams may have followed the same route west as his half-brother
Perry. He was known to have been a teamster between Nevada and Idaho. In 1870 William was
listed as a farmer at Millville and after the establishment of Redding operated a general
merchandise store in town for ten years. William married his second wife Celestia Mann, who
was the widow of Joseph Brackett in 1876. William died in Redding on 1909.

Of the four Hovey brothers, Captain C. Hovey was killed at Churntown in 1867. Rowell
Richard returned to Boone County, Illinois sometime after the 1870 U.S. Census and died in
1889. John Baker was mining with Rowell Richard in Township 5 in 1870. John received a
homestead patent in 1891 for 160 acres in Township 33 North Range 5 West and died in 1897.

Mary Jane Hovey and Samuel Williams had six children as well as Lenora who was born
near Kennett in 1879. The children were Helen May 1883-1933, Richard Rowell 1884-1972,
Samuel Aaron 1888-1960, John Wallace 1891-1943, Roger Perry 1894-1972, and Clarence N.
1896-1902. Samuel died in 1908 at Kennett reportedly from lockjaw (tetanus) after suffering a
broken arm in a fall. Mary Jane survived until 1933.

The 1900 U.S. Census states that in June of that year Lenore was using the name
Williams and was listed as being born in November 1879 and was single. Leonora was listed as
being able to read and write indicating that she had attended school before working as a
domestic servant. In 1900 Lenora was living with the Schoonover family in the Sacramento River
precinct. Eva Schoonover and her husband Thomas were both well known in the Sacramento
Canyon area. Both were settlers at Copper City on the Pit River and Eva had been postmistress
at Mable while Thomas was known as a bartender at Elmore.

After the census Lenora appears to have entered into a common-law marriage with Tola
Crouch. Tola was born in March 1880 and was the son of William Crouch who was born in 1825
in Connecticutt and Mary Rosina Crouch who was born in 1840 in California. Mary Rosina
appears to be 100% Native American making Tola 50% Native American. William was first found



in the records in 1867 when he registered as a miner at Churntown (at the same period Captain
C. Hovey was murdered at Churntown). The 1870 U.S. Census indicates William was in California
prior to 1857 as in the census he and Rosina have six children (Charles 13, George 10, Andre 8,
Elsina 5, Leman 3, and Dena 1) all listed as Indian born in California. In 1870 William is living
just three entries away from John Hovey. A patent from the Government Land Office in 1893
indicates William was in California as early as 1852 as he was assigned a warrant for serving as a
private in DeWitt Johnson’s Company of California Volunteers in the Northern California &
Oregon Indian War 1852-1855 (the warrant was assigned to Thomas Lee McBride who was a
farmer in Millville). In 1880 William was farming “southwest of Township three and listed with
seven children (Alyna or Elsina 15, Leaman 13, and five new children: Reuben 8, Alvin 6, Alonzo
4, Joseph 2 and an infant 2/12). The infant was Tola. In 1886 William was listed as a miner at
Buckeye and in 1896 as a miner at Kennett. No information was found on either William’s or
Rosina’s death or burial.

In the 1900 U.S. Census Tola was boarding in Sacramento River precinct and working as a
day laborer. In September 1902 Lenora gave birth to Ella L. Crouch and died the following day. In
1910 Ella was living with her grandparents in Keswick. At age thirteen William Hill reportedly
forced himself on Ella resulting in the birth of Mildred Marion Hill in 1916. By family history
three of Ella’s uncles hung William in a tree to die but he was released by a passerby. In 1917
Ella Married Herman John Weik jr. (1892-1962) and had a son Irving J. Weik. In the 1928 Indian
Census Ella was listed as ¼ Wintun which is an error as Tola was ½ Wintun and Lenora was ¼
Wintun making Ella 3/8th Native American. In 1934 Ell married Romain Leon Loomis (1903-1976)
but died soon after in 1938. Tola remarried after Lenora’s death to Lilli Henry (1885-1909) and in
1907 had another daughter Agatha Melda Stella Crouch (1907-1950).

L



Leonora Hovey. Courtesy of
Ancestry.com.

Samuel Main (Maine) Williams.
Courtesy of Ancestry.com.



Mary Jane Hovey. Courtesy of Ancestry.com.

Ella L. Crouch. Courtesy of Ancestry.com.

The author would encourage any reader to look further into the article and answer the
questions of why so many young Native American women were associated with often much
older white men during the formative years of Shasta County and why so many of the children
of mixed blood seem to marry other children of mixed blood and be marginalized economically.
A place to start is what euphemistically is called the 1850 Act for the Government and
Protection of Indians.

Chicago on the South Fork





















Pictures/maps:

1. Map of the South Fork Mining District (Courtesy of Shasta Historical Society)
2. Site of the five-stamp mill on the bluff above the South Fork of Clear Creek. The satellite

dish has been placed on the brick floor of the stamp mill. The road is the original mine
road that crosses a bridge over the South Fork of Clear Creek to join the current road.
Behind the stamp mill there is evidence that a swinging bridge crossed the canyon to the
Hubbard property.

3. Stone base of what probably was the warehouse and workshop.
4. Cement marker with a large C located near the mill site. Similar stones are found around

Anderson on the county road and date around 1900. It appears there may have been a
cap on the stone showing survey data.



5. The road connecting the mill site and the mine.
6. One of multiple adits close to the top of the ridge.
7. Old mine cart at the Chicago Mine being used for the entertainment of local families.

(Courtesy of Shasta Historical Society)
8. One of the old mine carts as found today.
9. Bent ore cart rails and ventilation pipe near the 1923 adit.

















Abstract of Title: The Dilullo Property in Anderson

When purchasing a property most real estate agents will suggest Title Insurance. It is not
required under California law and in northern California is usually paid by the buyer. The
California Department of Insurance cites title insurance is a contractual obligation that protects
against losses that occur when title to a property is not free and clear of defects. These defects
include errors in public records, unknown liens, illegal records, missing heirs, forgeries,
undiscovered encumbrances, unknown easements, bounder/survey disputes, undiscovered
wills, false impersonation, etc.

Title insurance protects the buyer and lenders if someone challenges your title to the
property. Before a company issues title insurance, they will diligently search for such defect all
the way back to when the United States first assumed ownership of California. So, this article is
not about John W. Dilullo who in March 1924 purchased property in Anderson. The article is
about the land John purchased. The sad note in the story was that this abstract and another
twenty or so were consigned to the trash. Luckily the sixty-seven years of history were saved
and copied.





The abstract map shows the original section designations of the Magee survey. Note the
sections are numbered 45, 46, 49, and 50. Under the township and range system there are only
36 sections in a township. For this and other imperfections in the initial survey the Courts often
utilize the Haggin survey for land in P.B. Reading’s Rancho Bueno Ventura.

















The final owner in the abstract: John W. Dilullo.


